IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-97

ROBERT CARRATELLI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOURTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA (CASE NO. 4D04-973)

MARCIA J. SILVERS, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 342459
DUNLAP & SILVERS, P.A.
Attorney for Robert Carratelli
2601 South Bayshore Drive, Suite 601
Miami, Florida 33133
305/854-9666

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant Carretelli seeks review of a majority decision rendered by a split Fourth District Court of Appeal *en banc* which the Fourth District's majority certified to be in direct conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Austing v. State*, 804 So.2d 603 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) and which the Fourth District's majority expressly stated was in direct conflict with the Eleventh Circuit's decision in *Davis v. Secretary for the Department of Corrections*, 341 F.3d 1310 (11th Cir. 2003).

I. Proceedings In The Trial Court.

The Accident and the Charges. Robert Carratelli was charged with six counts of manslaughter under §782.07, Fla. Stat., and six counts of vehicular homicide under §782.071(1), Fla. Stat. as a result of an automobile accident in which his car collided with a second car at the intersection of Gatehouse and Yamato Roads in Palm Beach County. Mr. Carratelli was at the wheel of his car when the collision occurred. All six people in the second car died. (T. 555-67, 640, 666).

Defendant/Appellant ROBERT CARRATELLI will be referred to as he stands in this Court, as he stood in the court below, and by name. "T" refers to the trial transcript. Mr. Carratelli's motion for post-conviction relief filed pursuant

Mr. Carratelli was tried by a jury. He was represented at trial by defense attorneys Richard Lubin and Thomas Gano. At Mr. Carratelli's trial, it was undisputed that he was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of the automobile accident.

Mr. Carratelli's defense at trial was that, unbeknownst to him, at the time of the accident he was suffering from a medical condition called syncope related to his severe diabetes that prevented him from being able to judge speed, time and distance and from exercising judgment. At the trial, it was undisputed that Mr. Carratelli is a Type I, insulin-dependent, diabetic whose condition is advanced and not well-controlled thereby causing him to have damaged kidneys and eyes as well as a damaged autonomic nervous system. (T. 1397, 1476-77). Syncope is common in people with diabetes. (T. 1398, 1466, 1695). A person who has syncope is highly susceptible to a rapid drop in blood pressure, resulting in a fainting or near-fainting episode. (T. 1452, 1460). This can happen while someone is driving, and the condition often

_

to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 will be referred to as "Rule 3.850 motion." The "State's Response to Motion for Post-Conviction Relief" will be referred to as "State's Response." All other documents that are made a part of the Record of Appeal in this case pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 9.141(b)(2)(A) will be referred to herein by their full title.

causes automobile accidents. (T. 1469, 1601). There is often no warning that an episode is coming on. (T. 1507-08, 1784).

Mr. Carratelli was first diagnosed with syncope when he fainted and was taken to a hospital several days after the accident. (T. 1609-10, 1634-35). Several defense experts testified that, at the time of the accident, Mr. Carratelli was having a syncopal or near-syncopal episode. (T. 1492, 1530, 1724-25, 1727-28, 1737, 1779). This episode made it impossible for him to judge speed, time, distance, or to exercise judgment. (T. 1779). After the accident, several witnesses observed that Mr. Carratelli was confused and did not know what had happened. (T. 622, 653, 809).

The State did not attempt to refute Mr. Carratelli's defense with medical testimony of its own. Instead, the State relied on its witnesses' interpretation of the physical evidence to attempt to show that Mr. Carratelli was braking and taking evasive action, and therefore was aware and functioning at the time of the accident. The very existence of a skid mark, a disputed fact at trial, was critical to the State's attempt to show that Mr. Carratelli was conscious and could not have been experiencing a syncopal episode at the time. However, the State's accident reconstruction expert never saw, let alone measured that skid mark. He was brought in to complete the

report after the original investigating officer died several weeks after the accident and a preliminary sketch containing a drawing of a skid mark was found in the original investigating officer's home. That sketch had no street names and was not clearly labeled as belonging to this accident. (T. 895, 1000; State's Exhibit 42). The State's accident reconstruction expert could not verify the existence of the skid mark, as it was not there when he went to the scene and there were no photographs of it. (T. 901, 1027, 1039).

None of the eyewitnesses who testified at the trial saw brake lights on Mr. Carratelli's car. (T. 650, 703). The sketch showed a skid mark in the right-hand through lane but two witnesses testified that Mr. Carratelli was in the left-hand through lane, not the right. (T. 671, 689). One testified that there was a car in the right-hand through lane, so Mr. Carratelli could not have been in that lane going into the intersection. (T. 648, 671).

The defense presented evidence from an accident reconstruction expert that, based on the physical evidence, in his opinion Mr. Carratelli's car could not have left the skid mark shown in the preliminary sketch and used by the State's accident reconstruction expert to form his opinion. (T. 1364). The defense's accident reconstruction expert testified that, in his opinion, Mr.

Carratelli's car was traveling about 63 miles per hour in a 55 mile per hour zone at the time of the impact. (T. 1366).

The Jury Selection Process. This was a highly publicized case--both at the time of the accident and at the time of trial. Indeed, news reports about the trial of this case were playing on the television in the jury waiting room during jury selection. (T. 78). Very few members of the venire had neither read nor seen some news report about it. (T. 1-454). Therefore, the jury selection process was lengthy and difficult.

During the jury voir dire, the trial judge in this case refused to exclude for cause four prospective jurors who openly stated that they could not be impartial: Jurors Nesbitt, Lott, Johnson, and Inman. However, as specified below, each of these prospective jurors should have been excused for cause.

<u>Juror Nesbitt</u>. During the jury voir dire in this case, Juror Nesbitt responded to questioning by providing the following information:

Juror Nesbitt worked in law enforcement for fifteen years, and then for five years as a fireman. (T. 30). At the time of Mr. Carratelli's trial, Juror Nesbitt continued to have numerous friends in law enforcement with whom he discussed cases in the news. (T. 30, 154-56).

Juror Nesbitt saw television and news reports concerning this accident. (T. 58). He read every newspaper article on this case, including a newspaper article that appeared in *The Palm Beach Post* on Sunday, April 30, 2000, the day before jury selection began in this case. (T. 58, 151-53, 444; Rule 3.850 motion, Exh. B). This *Palm Beach Post* article was highly prejudicial to Mr. Carratelli. The article described Mr. Carratelli's defense as "the zombie-driver defense." In that article, Sindy Forman, the daughter of two of the people who died in the car accident, was quoted as stating that Mr. Carratelli's defense was "phony and convenient." This *Palm Beach Post* article pointed out that Greg Barnhart, an attorney seeking money in a civil lawsuit for two people killed in the car accident, stated that he "thinks [defense counsel] Lubin will try to overwhelm the jury with some of the country's best doctors in the treatment of diabetes."

With respect to Mr. Carratelli's defense, this same article quoted Barnhart as stating: "It's a meandering theory that tries to fit the actual facts" but "just doesn't comport with the facts as we know them." In the article, Victor Diaz, another attorney seeking money in a civil lawsuit for the children of two of the people who died in the car accident, was quoted as stating that Mr. Carratelli's defense "is the ridiculous invention of creative lawyers." In this same article, family members

were quoted as being critical of Mr. Carratelli because they felt that he was not remorseful. (Rule 3.850 motion, Exh. B).

From the beginning, Juror Nesbitt readily and openly admitted his doubts that he could be fair and impartial. When initially asked by the trial judge whether he could be a fair and impartial juror, Nesbitt responded that he was not sure. (T. 13-15). Later on in the jury selection process, Juror Nesbitt said that he talked about this case with his law enforcement friends; they specifically discussed the reported speed of Mr. Carratelli's car and Mr. Carratelli's diabetic condition. He stated that he had formed an opinion on this case based on what he had read and heard. (T. 152).

The following dialogue subsequently occurred between Juror Nesbitt and defense counsel Richard Lubin:

Mr. Lubin: In terms of your police officer relationships and the discussion and the publicity, is it a fair statement to say that the defense is not starting on an equal playing field?

Mr. Nesbitt: As far as me?

Mr. Lubin: Yeah.

Mr. Nesbitt: I would *hope* to say that you would be. But it's a little hard for me to answer that question, because I don't know if I really formed an opinion or not.

I try not to. But if I had - -

Mr. Lubin: If you have, what is it?

Ms. Browne: I object to him giving his opinion.

The Court: Overruled.

Mr. Nesbitt: There could be a matter of guilt there, but that's my opinion, but I can't say for sure that I can't be convinced with evidence.

Mr. Lubin: In other words, you are saying I might be able to talk you out of that?

Mr. Nesbitt: With evidence, I've got to see the evidence. I have to see the evidence and if the evidence is there, beyond a reasonable doubt, I believe I can make the right decision but - - reject my opinion, whatever it may be, but I have to go strictly by the evidence.

Mr. Lubin: You are saying the evidence could convince you to reject the opinion that you have?

Mr. Nesbitt: Yeah, yeah. If there is a - - guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, okay, I would have to go one way.

Mr. Lubin: What way?

Mr. Nesbitt: Guilty, but if it is not there, I can't in all honesty, vote guilty for somebody that it wasn't proven against.

Mr. Lubin: It happens. The last question for you: Is it a concern in your mind, though, that it might take more of a defense or more evidence to help convince you to find Mr. Carratelli not guilty than it might otherwise take if you weren't who you are, having discussed this case and having read what you read?

Mr. Nesbitt: I don't think it would take more. Whatever evidence is presented in the case, I am going to have to go with that evidence and I don't think I would be coming back and say, I need more.

Mr. Lubin: Now, would you suggest might it be more difficult for Mr. Carratelli to be acquitted with you as a juror than with a juror that didn't have the preconceived opinion as it were, as you describe it?

Mr. Nesbitt: That way you put that, in all fairness to him *probably it would*, but that's - - I don't want to sit here and say, you know, no, but - -

(T. 157-160) (emphasis added).

The prosecutor subsequently utilized leading questions to ask Nesbitt if he could set aside the conversations he had with his friends and his preconceived opinion and not prejudge Mr. Carratelli. Nesbitt responded that he "hoped," "believed" and finally "thought" he could do so. (T. 160-161).

<u>Juror Lott</u>. During the jury voir dire in this case, Juror Lott responded to questioning by providing the following information:

Juror Lott was aware of this case from the pretrial publicity. She saw publicity about this case in the newspaper and on the television when it happened. (T. 10, 171). Juror Lott initially expressed doubts as to whether she could keep her feelings out of her decision. (T. 95-98). On further questioning by defense counsel Lubin during voir dire, it became apparent why Ms. Lott had such an emotional response to this case — she explained that she related this case in her mind to a recent tragedy where the child of a friend died in an ATV accident and stated:

MS. LOTT: I know my emotions would come into play because I would think, you know, if I am to think about that child, this doesn't even involve kids. I know my emotions will come into it.

MR. LUBIN: And will it -- will that then serve to the detriment of Bob Carratelli?

MS. LOTT: It could possibly, and I wouldn't want it to be, so I would honestly say that in fairness to him, I don't think you -- I would be good for him, you know, emotional wise. I don't think I'm there yet.

MR. LUBIN: Because of the recency of that tragedy, do I hear you saying that you feel that you do not believe that you could be as fair and impartial as the law would want you to be on this particular case? MS. LOTT: Yes, and as he deserves.

MR. LUBIN: So you would rather not sit because of that?

MS. LOTT: I would, because I would want someone sitting here in a reverse role to be totally, you know, I would want them to be totally, out of a hundred percent of themselves, and I am not. And just don't think I would be fair to him.

(T. 171-75) (emphasis added).

Subsequently, the prosecutor and the trial judge asked Juror Lott leading questions to try to rehabilitate her. The prosecutor asked Lott if she would follow the law and listen to the facts, and she responded, "um-hum." The trial judge also asked Lott if she could do the job and be emotional and logical at the same time, and she stated, "I'll try, yeah, yes, I would think I could." (T. 175-177).

<u>Juror Johnson</u>. During the jury voir dire in this case, Juror Johnson responded to questioning by providing the following information:

Juror Johnson read articles about this case in the newspaper. (T. 54, 179). She remembered that the accident involved six people and that someone might have run a red light. (T. 180-84). Reading newspaper articles about this case upset her, and it would upset her to be on the jury in this case. Indeed, the following

colloquy occurred between Juror Johnson and defense counsel Lubin during voir dire:

MR. LUBIN: Are you concerned that because of the magnitude of this accident that you can't really concentrate and be fair?

MS. JOHNSON: I don't think I could be fair. I just --

MR. LUBIN: It's okay too, I just need to know.

MS. JOHNSON: I don't have the words.

MR. LUBIN: Are you overwhelmed by the tragedy?

MS. JOHNSON: Yeah, I feel sorry for the six people that lost their lives.

MR. LUBIN: Do you feel because of that, that you are just not going to be able to be fair to Mr. Carratelli in this case?

MS. JOHNSON: Yeah.

MR. LUBIN: Even though you like to be?

MS. JOHNSON: Yes.

MR. LUBIN: You just know, no matter what the judge tells you, you are not going to be able to be fair?

MS. JOHNSON: No.

MR. LUBIN: Do you agree with that statement?

MS. JOHNSON: Yes.

MR. LUBIN: And you would rather not be seated

because you can't be fair --

MS. JOHNSON: Right.

MR. LUBIN: - - to Mr. Carratelli?

MS. JOHNSON: Yes.

(T. 180-182) (emphasis added).

Thereafter, the prosecutor and the trial judge tried to rehabilitate Juror Johnson in a colloquy in which Juror Johnson agreed with some of the leading questions of the prosecutor and the trial judge but continued to state that it would

be difficult for her to sit on Mr. Carratelli's jury, though she "probably" could listen to the evidence presented and "possibly" could be fair to both sides. (T. 182-184).

Defense counsel moved to exclude Jurors Nesbitt, Lott and Johnson for cause. (T. 210-214, 217-218). However, the trial court denied these challenges for cause without any explanation. (T. 212, 214, 218). Defense counsel subsequently used peremptory challenges to strike Jurors Nesbitt, Lott and Johnson. (T. 215, 217-218).

Juror Inman. During the jury voir dire in this case, Juror Inman stated that he had received information about this case, including that a car accident had occurred, from the newspaper and television. (T. 359). He further stated during voir dire that, after learning about this case from the media, he listened to a group of men discuss this case at his local barbershop the week before Mr. Carratelli's trial. (T. 359). Juror Inman explained that this group of men was "pretty much unanimous" that "Mr. Carratelli was probably guilty of the charge." (T. 360). Inman then additionally said that he heard this group of men stating that they "couldn't believe" Mr. Carratelli's "excuse" that his diabetes caused the accident. (T. 363-364).

Thereafter, during the jury selection process, Juror Inman stated that the barbershop discussion caused him to have an opinion that Mr. Carratelli would have had a forewarning about a reaction from diabetes and that he, therefore, should have stopped driving before the accident occurred. Furthermore, Inman stated that, after listening to the barbershop discussion, he felt that Mr. Carratelli's defense did not make sense. (T. 366-367).

When questioned during voir dire, Juror Inman additionally stated that, after he overheard the discussion in the barbershop about this case, he read the newspaper article that appeared in the *Palm Beach Post* concerning this case that came out on Sunday, April 30, 2000, the day before the trial of this case began. (T. 359-360, 367). This was the same previously described April 30, 2000 *Palm Beach Post* article that ridiculed Mr. Carratelli's defense and that was read by Juror Nesbitt. *See infra* at 9-10. Juror Inman conceded that this article took the position that Mr. Carratelli was guilty but claimed that the article did not do that much for him. (T. 367-368).

However, after Juror Inman described the barbershop discussion and his reading of the April 30, 2000 *Palm Beach Post* article, the following dialogue occurred between Juror Inman, defense attorney Lubin and the trial judge:

MR. LUBIN: Would you say that this is a fair statement that you have an opinion about the defense but it's not - you have not positively made up your mind? MR. INMAN: That's correct.

MR. LUBIN: But it would certainly be more difficult for Mr. Carratelli to convince you of his innocence now than if you had not read the article had not been involved in that discussion?

MR. INMAN: I believe that's a fair statement.

MR. LUBIN: Even though, of course, you know, we know that in a pure world you wouldn't have read it, and that you should be able to put things out of your mind; obviously it's in there, right?

MR. INMAN: That's correct.

MR. LUBIN: Thank you.

THE COURT: Mr. Inman, you used a phrase a minute ago but I don't want to put words in your mouth, as to this type of defense; I gather that you think it's possible there is a medical explanation that would explain the situation?

MR. INMAN: Well, there's a possibility that that could happen.

THE COURT: And regardless of what discussions you had already, you'd be willing, as a juror, to sit here and listen to whatever medical testimony you hear?

MR. INMAN: Absolutely.

THE COURT: Whether it makes sense or it doesn't?

MR. INMAN: Yes.

THE COURT: Would you be able to set aside any input you had, bias or prejudice, and sit here and assure us all that you can be a fair and impartial juror?

MR. INMAN: If I come in here as a juror, I will sit down with an open slate and listen to what is said and make up my mind from there.

(T. 368-370) (emphasis added). At the conclusion of the questioning of prospective jurors, defense counsel Lubin moved to strike Juror Inman for cause.

(T. 444). However, the trial court denied this motion without any explanation. (T. 444).

Other Challenges. After the trial court denied Mr. Carratelli's motion to strike Juror Inman for cause, defense counsel moved to strike for cause all of the prospective jurors who were exposed to the publicity about this case. (T. 444). The trial court denied this motion. (T. 445). Defense counsel then moved to strike for cause three other prospective jurors based on pretrial publicity. The trial court denied this motion. (T. 445).

At that point, Mr. Carratelli had one peremptory challenge remaining. Defense counsel requested additional peremptory challenges for Mr. Carratelli because of the extensive publicity about this case. However, the trial court denied this request without explanation. (T. 445). Defense counsel then asked the trial court for a ruling on Mr. Carratelli's motion for a change of venue due to pretrial publicity, which was denied although the trial judge acknowledged that "clearly there is widespread publicity in this case." (T. 446-47).

Defense counsel subsequently used Mr. Carratelli's last peremptory challenge to strike a prospective juror named Berry. (T. 447). The State then immediately accepted the remaining panel. (T. 447).

The trial judge, who had just denied defense counsel's request for additional peremptories, turned to defense counsel: "Those six jurors unless additional challenges from the defense, Mr. Lubin." Defense counsel responded as follows:

MR. LUBIN: If - - if there are others, I would challenge including Mr. Inman, and others, if you granted me more peremptories.

(T. 447-48). The trial court did not reply to this statement of Mr. Lubin. (T. 448). The trial court's very next question concerned the alternate juror. After the State struck an alternate, defense counsel accepted the next alternate seated "without waiving the challenge to the jury itself." (T. 448) (emphasis added). Because Mr. Carratelli did not have any remaining peremptory challenges, Juror Inman sat as a juror on the panel that rendered the verdict in this case.

The Verdict. The jury acquitted Mr. Carratelli of the six counts of manslaughter by culpable negligence, but found him guilty of the six counts of vehicular homicide. (T. 2203). The trial court sentenced Mr. Carratelli to 15 years in prison. (T. 2211, 2340). He is presently imprisoned.

II. The Appeal.

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