IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA,

ROBERT CARRATELLI,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC06-97 4th DCA Case No. 4D04-973

### APPELLEE=S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO Senior Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0656879

DAVID M. SCHULTZ Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0874523 1515 North Flagler Drive Ninth Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (561) 837-5000

Counsel for Respondent

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should decline to accept jurisdiction, because the rule of law enunciated in *Austing* (the conflict case) is not the same rule of law now presented to this court.

Be that as it may, the rationale in *Davis* is flawed, and when, as here, a conviction is challenged and counsels trial performance is alleged to be deficient, the relevant prejudice inquiry under *Strickland* is whether, absent the errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different.

### ARGUMENT

# THE TEST FOR PREJUDICE UNDER STRICKLAND USED BY THE DISTRICT COURT WAS CORRECT.

The Supreme Court=s test for analysis of ineffective assistance of counsel claims is the two-pronged test enunciated in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Under this test, appellant bears the burden of proving that his counsel=s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that he suffered actual and substantial prejudice as a result. *Id*. To demonstrate the prejudice prong, appellant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his counsels unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id*. The standards set forth in *Strickland* have been adopted by this court. *King v. State*, 597 So. 2d 780 (Fla. 1992); *Kelley v. State*, 569 So. 2d 754 (Fla. 1990).

In Strickland, the Court repeatedly stated that when applying the above test the ultimate focus of inquiry must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged. Strickland at 696, 697-698. In Strickland, the appellant was challenging his capital sentencing proceeding. The Court likened a capital sentencing proceeding and counsels role to a trial. Strickland at 686-687. Therefore, the Court indicated that to prove prejudice appellant was required to demonstrate a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the result of the sentencing would have been different. See Strickland at 677, 695, 699-700). The Court also indicated that when a defendant is challenging his conviction, as distinguished from his sentence, the relevant inquiry in assessing the prejudice prong is whether, absent the errors, there is a reasonable probability that the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt. Id. In other words, whether there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial

would have been different. *Strickland* therefore makes it clear that when alleging an ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that the result of the trial, not the appeal, would have been different. *Strickland* at 687.

The standard of review for ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is the same *Strickland* standard used for trial counsel. *Jones v. Moore*, 794 So. 2d 579 (Fla. 2001); *Rutherford v. Moore*, 774 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 2000). However, since the defendant is challenging his appellate proceeding, the relevant inquiry in assessing the prejudice prong is whether there is a reasonable probability, absent the errors, that the outcome of the appeal would have been different. *Id*; *Wilson v. Wainwright*, 474 So. 2d 1162 (Fla. 1985).

Appellant in this matter is challenging his conviction (the result of his trial) (page 42 of appellant=s motion for postconviction relief and page 14 of appellant=s memorandum of law in support thereof) and arguing that trial counsel was ineffective, but appellant asserts that the relevant question in assessing prejudice is whether there is a reasonable probability, absent the errors, that the outcome of the appeal would have been different. Citing to Austing v. State, 804 So. 2d 603 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA (2002)(the stated conflict case) and Davis v. Sec=y for the

Dept. of Corr., 341 F.3d 1310 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), appellant argues that when a trial attorney, like trial counsel in this matter, puts the trial court on notice of an alleged error in the trial proceeding but nonetheless fails to preserve the alleged error for appellate review (by not renewing his or her objection to the alleged error), then in order to demonstrate the *Strickland* prejudice prong a defendant must show that had the objection been preserved the result of the appeal, not the trial, would have been different.

In Austing, defense counsel sought to exercise a peremptory challenge against a prospective juror, but the trial court denied the challenge on the basis that counsels stated reason for the challenge was not race neutral.<sup>4</sup> The opinion indicates that defense counsel failed to preserve this issue for appellate review, because he failed to object to the jury as impaneled. However, the opinion does not reflect that defense counsel ever put the trial court on notice of an alleged error in its ruling. Further, Austing does not give any rationale for its holding but merely relies on the doctrine of Stare Decisis, citing as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The district court held that the trial court=s ruling was erroneous.

authority to Dwyer v. State, 776 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001)<sup>5</sup> and Vaz v. State, 626 So. 2d 1022 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1993). Dwyer is similar to Austing, in that defense counsel sought to exercise a peremptory challenge against a prospective juror, but the trial court denied the challenge; however, in Dwyer the district court makes it very clear that defense counsel never objected to the improper denial of his peremptory challenge. Therefore, the trial court was never put on notice of the alleged error. In Vaz, the district court held that trial counsels failure to preserve a closing argument error for appellate review was prejudicial, in that the result of the appeal would have been different. Again, in Vaz the trial court was never put on notice of the alleged error.

In pertinent part, this court has discretionary jurisdiction over decisions of the district courts of appeal 1) that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Fourth District Court of appeal receded from *Dwyer* in *Carratelli v. State*, 915 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005) (en banc).

expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of this court on the same question of law; or 2) are certified to be in direct conflict with decisions of other district courts of appeal. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) & (vi). The question of law presented to this court by appellant and the subject of the holding in Davis is not the same rule of law presented in the decisions of Austing, Dwyer and Vaz. The rule of law of Davis and now presented to this court, in addition to a trial lawyer not preserving an issue for appellate review, adds that the trial lawyer did, however, put the trial court on notice of the alleged error. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals makes it very clear that their holding, unlike the holdings in Austing, Dwyer and Vaz, is only applicable when trial counsel puts the trial court on notice of the alleged error but fails to preserve the issue for appellate review by renewing the objection and distinguishes cases like Austing, Dwyer and Vaz, where trial counsel fails to preserve the issue for appellate review and does not put the trial court on notice of the alleged error. This is because in cases like *Davis* the only effect of trial counsel=s negligence is on the defendant=s appeal. Davis at 1314-1315. See also Brower v. Sec-y for the Dept. of Corr., No. 04-14963 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. June 24, 2005). Since the rule of law now

<u>15</u>

presented by appellant is not the same rule of law presented in *Austing*, this court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

Be that as it may, the rationale in Davis v. Sec=y. for the Dep=t. of Corr., 341 F.3d 1310, 1316 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003), is flawed. Part of the rationale for its holding is that when a trial attorney fails to preserve an issue for appellate review he or she is acting in an appellate capacity, and that therefore to demonstrate the prejudice prong under Strickland when alleging this deficient conduct a defendant must show that there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome on appeal (not the trial) had the claim been preserved. The undersigned would respectfully disagree. Preserving issues for appellate review is what trial attorneys do, and to claim that they are acting in an appellate capacity when they preserve or fail to preserve an issue for review is a fiction designed to support a desired result.<sup>6</sup> Further, the court justified its holding by citing to Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 120 S.Ct.1029, 145 L.Ed.2d 985 (2000), indicating that the Court therein established that the prejudice showing required by Strickland is not always fastened to the forum in which counsel performs deficiently, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The federal courts of appeals generally treat *Batson* violations, like the one in *Davis* as structural and thus subject to per se reversal. *Nebraska v. Lowe*, 677 N.W.2d 178

that even when it is trial counsel who represents a client ineffectively in the trial court, the relevant focus in assessing prejudice may be the client-s appeal. Davis at 1315. However, as the court also pointed out, in Flores-Ortega the Court held that Strickland-s prejudice prong required the petitioner to show that but for counsel=s deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appealed. Id. This is because trial counsel did not file a timely notice of appeal. Flores-Ortega at 474. Therefore, the Court limited its holding only to circumstances where counsel fails to consult with a defendant about an appeal and therefore no timely notice of appeal is filed. Flores-Ortega at 484. This is significant, because the Court clearly distinguished between ineffective assistance of counsel claims for performance in a trial proceeding versus an appeal proceeding. Flores-Ortega at 481. Again, the Court further distinguished ineffective assistance claims in the above proceedings from a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to file a notice of appeal. Flores-Ortega at 477. The Court clarified this distinction when it stated, AToday=s case is unusual in that counsel=s alleged deficient performance arguably led not to a judicial proceeding

<u>17</u>

<sup>(</sup>Neb. 2004).

of disputed reliability, but rather to the forfeiture of a proceeding itself.@ Flores-Ortega at 483. The rationale for this distinction was, at least in part, the fact that filing a notice of appeal is purely a ministerial task. Flores-Ortega at 474. Therefore, the Court clearly distinguished between counsel=s conduct during a trial proceeding, counsel=s conduct during an appellate proceeding, and counsel=s conduct in regard to filing a notice of appeal. Consequently, the undersigned would respectfully disagree with the eleventh circuit=s conclusion that Flores-Ortega established that when a defendant alleges ineffective assistance of trial counsel, for putting a trial court on notice of an alleged error but failing to preserve the alleged error for appellate review, the relevant focus in assessing the prejudice prong of Strickland is whether there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable result on appeal.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal also disagreed with the eleventh circuit=s reasoning in reaching this holding. *Carratelli v. State*, 915 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005) (en banc). First, the Fourth District disagreed with *Davis*= characterization of a failure to preserve a trial objection as a failure in trial counsel=s **A**separate and distinct role of preserving error for appeal,@ as opposed to a failure of trial

<u>18</u>

advocacy, noting that the requirement of preservation is central to the trial process. Second, the district court disagreed with the eleventh circuits application of Roe, because Roe involved the failure to file a timely notice of appeal, which has nothing to do with the trial conduct of failing to preserve an objection to a potential juror. Finally, the Fourth District pointed out that jury selection is a dynamic evolving process where a lawyer-s evaluation of jurors turns on those who have been seated and those potential jurors who might be called if a challenge is exercised. Therefore, the weighted evaluation of a potential juror changes at every step of the jury selection process. The district court noted that it is for this reason that this court requires attorneys to renew an earlier objection to a juror before the jury is sworn. Appellant argues that this case is unique and that the Davis holding should be applied, because there was no trial impact in that the trial court was put on objectionable. notice that Mr. Inman was However, the undersigned would disagree. It is only through renewal of such an objection that puts the trial court on notice that appellant has an objection to the jury as finally formed, and has not jury selection process decided that through the another potential juror is more objectionable. Therefore, this exception to Strickland, as carved out by the Davis court should

<u>19</u>

not be applied in the State of Florida.

It should be noted that although distinct from the rule of law presented in this case, several cases in Florida have addressed ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to preserve an issue for appellate review. See State v. Bouchard, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D768 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA March 10, 2006). In Bouchard, which was published subsequent to Carratelli, the Second District Court of Appeal has receded from its holding in Van Loan v. State, 872 So. 2d 330 (Fla.  $2^{nd}$  DCA 2004), and adopted the holding in Carratelli. In Bouchard, the district court again noted that in *Strickland* the Court stated that the ultimate focus must be on the fundamental fairness of the proceeding whose result is being challenged; therefore, in evaluating the prejudice prong under Strickland the focus must be on the reliability of the outcome in the proceeding in which the deficient performance occurred rather than on whether counsel=s deficient performance in the trial court affected the defendant=s appellate rights.

Finally, appellant argues that the Fourth District improperly relied on *Jenkins v. State*, 824 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002), because in this matter, as opposed to *Jenkins*, it would have been useless for trial counsel to request more peremptory challenges since the judge had just denied a similar

request (IB 34). However, as was stated above, this is incorrect, because when counsel requested these peremptory challenges he still had challenges remaining, and the trial court had already advised him that any such request was premature until he had used these challenges.

Appellant also argues that the district courts reliance on Joiner v. State, 618 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 1993) was also improper, because, as opposed to Joiner, trial counsel in this matter did renew his objection, Aexcept secure an express ruling from the trial court rejecting his request for additional challenges@ (IB 36). However, on direct appeal appellee argued and the district court found that whatever trial counsel said, Awas neither a motion nor a request for additional peremptory challenges.@ *Carratelli v. State*, 832 So. 2d 850, 856 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2002). Therefore, appellant has shown no error by the district court in relying on these cases.

# CONCLUSION

Based on the above argument, Appellee requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.